THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
FEB 21 2019
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SALUDA COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001388

Stephen Wilkinson, as Trustee of George B. Buchanan, Jr.
Irrevocable Family Trust Dated the 15th day of July, 2001, Respondent,

v.

Redd Green Investments, LLC, Anderson North Augusta, LLC,
Herbert Anderson, Jr., A. Bruce Green, Herbert Keith Anderson,
and L. Cliff Redd, Defendants,

Of which Redd Green Investments, LLC, A. Bruce Green,
and L. Cliff Redd are Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Wallace K. Lightsey (S.C. Bar Id. No. 6476)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

The present action involves a claim for breach of guaranty by a lender against the guarantors of a commercial loan. In a prior foreclosure action against the borrower only, the lender obtained the property through a foreclosure sale and also obtained a personal deficiency judgment against the borrower, which it now seeks to enforce against the guarantors in this action. Under S.C. Code § 15-39-720 (the “**Deficiency Statute**”), a lender may obtain a deficiency judgment only if it submits a single bid on the first day of the foreclosure sale and does not participate in a second “upset sale” held thirty days later, when the property is auctioned to the highest bidder. Here, the guarantors defended on the basis that the lender violated the Deficiency Statute by participating in the initial bidding and then later winning the property at the upset sale. The trial court ruled as a matter of law that the lender’s violation of the Deficiency Statute could not serve as a defense to payment on the guaranty.

This appeal contends that this ruling was error and raises the following issues on appeal:

1. Did the trial court err by ruling as a matter of law that a mortgagee’s violation of S.C. Code § 15-39-720 in a prior foreclosure action cannot serve as a defense to a subsequent action for breach of guaranty when the guarantor was not party to the prior foreclosure action?
2. Does a mortgagee’s violation of S.C. Code § 15-39-720 in a prior foreclosure action constitute a defense as a matter of law in a subsequent action for breach of guaranty when the guarantor was not a party to the prior foreclosure action?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was filed on March 5, 2013, by Respondent Stephen Wilkinson, as Trustee of George B. Buchanan, Jr. Irrevocable Family Trust Dated the 15th day of July, 2001 (“Respondent” or “Trust”). Respondent brought the action seeking to recover on certain guaranties executed by the Appellants (Redd Green Investments, LLC, A. Bruce, Green, and L. Cliff Redd) (“Appellants” or “Guarantors”) and the other Defendants (Anderson North Augusta,

LLC, Herbert Anderson, Jr., and Herbert Keith Anderson) (“Defendants”), in conjunction with a commercial loan made to Springs North Augusta, LLC (the “Borrower”) and secured by real property located in Aiken County. (Complaint pp. 2-4) (R. pp. 17-19). Respondent’s claim was based upon a deficiency judgment in the amount of \$2,753,192.70, plus interest at the rate of 15% per annum, (“Deficiency Judgment”) obtained against the Borrower following the foreclosure sale in a prior foreclosure action (“Foreclosure Action”). (Trial Ex. 10; Court Ex. 1) (R. pp. 282, 289-90). The guarantors were not included as defendants in the Foreclosure Action but were pursued separately in the instant action, where the claim had ballooned into one for \$4,781,882.55 at the time of trial. (*Id.*) (R. pp. 282, 289-90).

On May 1, 2013, Appellants filed an Answer, alleging that they were prejudiced by Respondent’s improper violation of the bidding statute during the prior Foreclosure Action and that the Respondent therefore should be precluded from enforcing the Deficiency Judgment against the Guarantors in this separate action. (Answer at 3-5) (R. pp. 87-91). The Answer included counterclaims for Civil Conspiracy, Constructive Fraud, and Fraud and Deceit, (*id.*) (R. pp. 89-91), which were withdrawn as counterclaims at trial but retained as providing “the factual basis for the defenses,” (Transcript p. 81) (R. p. 174).

On April 15, 2014, Respondent moved for summary judgment on its claims and against Defendants’ counterclaims, (Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment) (R. pp. 310-11), and filed a supporting affidavit of Stephen Wilkinson seeking to be named as successor Trustee, (Affidavit in Support of Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion to Amend Caption to Designate Successor Trustee as Real Party in Interest) (R. pp. 312-21). The affidavit stated that George B. Buchanan, Jr. established the Trust for his children and their issue and that Mr. Buchanan was “permitted to make additions” to the assets of the Trust. (*Id.* at 2) (R. p. 313).

Mr. Buchanan's children, George B. Buchanan, III, Robert S. Buchanan, and Sally B. Alexander, signed the attached Appointment of Successor Trustee along with the former trustee, Mr. Sakellaris, and the successor trustee, Mr. Wilkinson. (*Id.* at 4-10) (R. p. 315-21).

Mr. Sakellaris provided a supporting affidavit, testifying that the Trust submitted a bid at the first foreclosure sale in the prior Foreclosure Action on September 4, 2012, in the amount of \$6,600,000. (Affidavit of Harry P. Sakellaris in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment) (R. pp. 322-24). Mr. George Buchanan also provided an affidavit, testifying that he was the sole member and manager of 2nd Avenue Holdings, LLC ("Second Avenue Holdings"), which he formed for real estate investment, and that Second Avenue Holdings bid at the second foreclosure sale held on October 4, 2012, in the Foreclosure Action. (Affidavit of Second Avenue Holdings in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment p. 1) (R. p. 325). Second Avenue Holdings was the successful bidder at this second sale, with a bid of \$7,160,000. (*Id.*) (R. p. 325). Mr. Buchanan further averred that Second Avenue Holdings paid a bid deposit of \$500,000 on October 4, 2012, and later assigned this bid to the Trust. (*Id.*) (R. pp. 325-26).

On October 19, 2014, Appellants Bruce Green and Cliff Redd filed affidavits in opposition to summary judgment, averring that Mr. Buchanan formed Second Avenue Holdings on September 10, 2012 (six days after the Trust's bid at the first foreclosure sale) for the apparent purpose of bidding at the second "upset" sale; that all of their prior dealings with the Trust concerning the mortgage or property were with Mr. Buchanan himself, not any Trustee; and that, upon information and belief, Mr. Buchanan established Second Avenue Holdings to attempt to keep the subject property with the Trust after learning of third parties who intended to present an "upset bid" at the second foreclosure sale where the Trust was forbidden by law from bidding. (Affidavits of Cliff Redd and Bruce Green in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for

Summary Judgment pp. 1-2) (R. pp. 327-28, 330-331). Mr. Green and Mr. Redd further averred that Second Avenue Holdings was the high bidder at the second sale and assigned its bid to the Trust for no consideration, thereby indicating that it was acting on behalf of the Trust when it bid at the second sale, which was a violation of the foreclosure statutes allowing for a deficiency judgment and which chilled bidding at the second sale. (*Id.* p. 2) (R. pp. 328, 331).

On March 1, 2016, Stephen Wilkinson was substituted for Harry P. Sakellaris as Trustee, and the caption was amended to reflect this change as well as the removal of William Otha Bodie as a defendant. (Order Amending Caption and Substituting Counsel filed March 1, 2016) (R. p. 1).

On March 1, 2016, the Court, without elaboration, denied Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment on Appellants' Counterclaims and stated that the matters could be raised at the directed verdict stage. (Order p. 2) (R. p. 6).

On March 1, 2017, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss, seeking to dismiss the counterclaims of Appellants for lack of subject matter jurisdiction under Rule 12(b)(1). (Motion to Dismiss p. 1) (R. p. 333). Respondent contended that the counterclaims were an improper collateral attack on the order for foreclosure and Deficiency Judgment obtained against the Borrower in the prior Foreclosure Action. (Plaintiff's Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss Counterclaims pp. 2-3 & Ex. A) (R. pp. 336-63).¹ Respondent further contended that "the [B]orrower, not defendant guarantors, is in privity of contract with the [Respondent]" and therefore that the Appellants as guarantors "have no standing to assert such claims and are not

¹ The Defendants in the instant action were not named defendants in the Foreclosure Action, and the Borrower went into default and did not defend. (*Id.* at Ex. A (Master in Equity's Order and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale ("Foreclosure Order"))) at p. 1-2) (R. pp. 342, 345).

permitted to raise them either before the Master [in the Foreclosure Action] or in subsequent proceedings, such as the instant action.” (*Id.*) (R. p. 337).

On June 2, 2017, following a hearing on May 8, 2017, Judge R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr. denied the Motion to Dismiss, ruling that it “is uncontested that Defendants in this case were not parties to the Foreclosure [Action]” and therefore that the deficiency judgment is not the law of the case with respect to the Defendants in the instant action. (Order Denying Plaintiff’s Motion to Dismiss p. 2) (R. p. 8). He further ruled that Defendants’ counterclaims “are not contesting [or seeking to overturn or otherwise attack] the Deficiency Judgment that Plaintiff obtained against [Borrower] in the Foreclosure [Action]” but instead are seeking “to hold the [Respondent] accountable for an alleged violation of the foreclosure upset bid statute found at South Carolina Code Ann. § 15-39-720.” (*Id.* at 2-3) (R. pp. 8-9).

On September 5-6, 2017, the matter went to a jury trial before Judge R. Knox McMahon. (Tr. p. 1) (R. p. 94). After both sides rested their case, the trial judge entered a directed verdict for the Respondent on the basis that, even if there was a violation of the foreclosure bidding statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-720 (which the trial judge assumed for purposes of a directed verdict), such a violation would not provide a defense to the Defendant’s guaranties on the debt. (Tr. pp. 132-33) (R. pp. 225-26). On September 7, 2017, the trial court issued a Form 4 Order directing a verdict in the amount of \$4,781,882.65. (Order dated September 7, 2017) (R. pp. 10-11).

On Friday September 15, 2017, Appellants served a Motion for New Trial. (Motion for New Trial) (R. pp. 291-93). On September 18, 2017, Appellants served an Amended Motion for New Trial or in the Alternative to Alter or Amend the Judgment of the Court (“Amended

Motion”). (Amended Motion for New Trial or in the Alternative to Alter or Amend the Judgment of the Court) (R. pp. 294-96).

On June 29, 2018, Appellants received written notice of entry of the Order denying the Amended Motion (entered on June 29, 2018), (Order) (R. pp. 12-15), and timely served their Notice of Appeal within thirty days of receipt on July 23, 2018, (Notice of Appeal) (R. pp. 365-69), appealing from (1) the Order of Judge R. Knox McMahon, announced at trial on September 6, 2017, and entered September 7, 2017, granting Respondent’s motion for a directed verdict, and (2) the Order of Judge R. Knox McMahon, entered June 29, 2018, denying Appellants’ Amended Motion for New Trial or in the Alternative to Alter of Amend the Judgment of the Court. The Orders are appealable pursuant to S.C. Code § 14-3-330(1) (providing for appellate review of final judgments in actions commenced in the court of common pleas) and (2) (providing for appellate review of an order that refuses a new trial).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case involves a loan by the Trust to the Borrower in the amount of \$8,728,500, which was secured by 1400 acres of commercial property valued at \$30 Million and guaranteed by the Defendants. (Tr. pp. 68, 85 & Pl. Exs. 6-9) (R. pp. 161, 178, 266-81). One of the guaranties (“Guaranties”) was executed by Appellant Redd Green Investments, LLC and Defendant Anderson North Augusta, LLC, and the other was executed by Appellants A. Bruce Green and L. Cliff Redd and the other individual Defendants. (Pl. Exs. 8-9) (R. pp. 276-81). The two Guaranties are substantially similar and provide, in part, that the Guarantors will guaranty the debts “of Borrower . . . in accordance with the terms of any such notes . . . or agreements”; that the Lender may surrender or compromise collateral “with reasonable notice” to the Guarantors; that the Guarantors have a “right of recourse to security for the debts and

obligations of the Borrower to Lender” if the Guarantors pay the debts in full; and that “the high bid at the judicial foreclosure sale will be applied to the debt” in the event that the Trust were to foreclose on the collateral. (*Id.*) (R. pp. 276-81).

Prior to the instant action against the Guarantors, the Trust initiated a foreclosure action against the Borrower, but not against the Guarantors. (Tr. pp. 68, 87) (R. pp. 161, 180). The Borrower did not defend the action and defaulted. (*Id.* p. 70 & Pl. Ex. 1) (R. pp. 163, 230). The court entered a default judgment of foreclosure against the Borrower and ordered the property to be sold at a foreclosure auction with the proceeds to be applied to a total debt of \$9,450,662.50. (*Id.* p. 70 & Pl. Ex. 1) (R. pp. 163, 229-36). Because the Trust claimed a deficiency judgment, (*id.*) (R. pp. 163, 234-35), it would be allowed under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-720 to bid only one time, with the sale then being held open for thirty days to receive upset bids.

At the foreclosure sale, the Trust bid \$6.6 Million, which was \$2.9 Million less than the debt and well below the \$30 million value that the Appellants assigned to the property. (Tr. pp. 52, 85, 88) (R. pp. 145, 178, 181).² The sale was then held open for thirty days for upset bids. (*Id.* pp. 52, 88) (R. pp. 145, 181). At the close of thirty days, Mr. Buchanan himself appeared at the auction, bid against other bidders, and won. (*Id.*) (R. pp. 145, 181). Mr. Buchanan indicated that his bid was made on behalf of one his wholly owned LLCs, and he assigned his bid back to the Trust. (*Id.* pp. 52-53) (R. pp. 145-46). As outlined by the Trust in its opening statement at trial:

[T]he way that the two sales work is that at the first sale the person who is owed the money can put in a bid for the property. . . . There’s then a second sale, what might be referred to as the upset bid, okay? **At the second sale, the person who’s owed the money is not allowed to bid, nor is that party’s representative**

² The Trust itself valued the Property at \$15 Million in the days following the sale. (Tr. p. 32) (R. p. 125). Even at this value, the Property was worth well above the debt of \$9.5 Million.

allowed to bid, and the reason for that is to try to encourage the party who is owed the money to put in the highest bid possible, okay?

What happened in this case is at the first sale the trust put in a bid for 6.6 million. . . . [A]nd then after that **Mr. Buchanan, who was concerned that someone else might come in and take this property and leave the trust in a bad position, losing some money,** decided that it would be **better for one of his companies to own it rather than the -- rather than somebody other than the trust.** So Mr. Buchanan, on behalf of a company he owned called Second Avenue Holdings, LLC, it was a company he had set up to hold some property previously, went to the second sale and there were other bidders there and multiple bids were put in. In the end, Second Avenue Holdings, LLC, won the bid and held the property.

After that point, Mr. Buchanan after consulting with some others and the trustee decided that it would be **better from a tax perspective and from his children's perspective for the trust to hold onto that property** rather than Second Avenue Holdings, LLC. So Second Avenue Holdings, LLC, **assigned the bid that it won back to the trust** so the trust could hold on to the property.

(Tr. pp. 52-53) (R. pp. 145-46 (emphasis added)).³

Second Avenue Holdings was solely owned by Mr. Buchanan, (*id.* p. 111) (R. p. 204), and it was created six days after the Trust's bid at the first sale on September 4, 2012, (*id.* pp. 96-97 & Green Ex. 1) (R. pp. 189-90, 283-84).⁴ Its winning bid was for \$7,160,000. (*Id.* p. 69 & Pl. Ex. 5) (R. pp. 162, 265). That same day it deposited \$500,000 toward its bid and, on October 24, 2012, assigned its bid to the Trust for **no consideration**. (Tr. pp. 100-101 & Green Ex. 2) (R. pp. 193-94, 285-86).⁵ The property then was deeded from the Master in Equity to the Trust, and the Trust claimed an exemption from the deed recording fee on the basis that it obtained the

³ A party is bound by the admissions of counsel at opening statement. 88 C.J.S. Trial § 267.

⁴ Mr. Buchanan contended at trial that he created this company several years earlier, but he was impeached with the Articles of Organization revealing that it came into existence on September 10, 2012. S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-202(b) ("Unless a delayed effective date is specified, the existence of a limited liability company begins when the articles of organization are filed.").

⁵ The Assignment of Bid noted that the deposit would be returned to Second Avenue Holdings less the Master's commission and other court costs, and those costs were reimbursed by the Trust. (Tr. p. 101 & Green Ex. 2) (R. pp. 194, 285). Thus, Second Avenue Holdings netted zero dollars, and so there was no consideration.

deed as mortgagee pursuant to foreclosure proceedings. (Tr. pp. 71-72 & Pl. Ex. 3) (R. pp. 164-65, 252, 261-62).

The Court then entered an Order of Deficiency against the Borrower in the amount of \$2,484,163.95 on October 26, 2012, which was amended to \$2,753,192.70, plus 15% annual interest, on February 13, 2013. (Tr. pp. 71-72 & Pl. Exs. 2; 4) (R. pp. 164-65, 249-51, 263-64). The net result was that the Trust, which *was not allowed to bid at the upset sale*, ended up with the property (valued at \$15 to \$30 Million) *as a result of a bid at the upset sale*, and it also ended up with a deficiency judgment of \$2.8 Million (now \$4.8 Million) even though the value of the property exceeded the total debt owed by the Borrower. (Tr. pp. 32, 52-53, 71-73, 85 & Pl. Exs. 2-4, 10) (R. pp. 125, 145-46, 164-66, 178, 249-64, 282).

After it obtained a Deficiency Judgment against the Borrower in the Foreclosure Action, the Trust brought the instant action against the Guarantors seeking to recover on the Guaranties. The Appellants contended at trial that when Mr. Buchanan appeared at the upset sale and presented the winning bid, he violated the Deficiency Statute, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-720, because he was acting on behalf of the Trust who was forbidden from bidding at the upset sale, and therefore that the Trust is precluded from recovery on the Guaranties because it violated the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing with the Guarantors. (Tr. p. 123) (R. p. 216).

At trial, the Appellants presented a great deal of evidence supporting its contention that Mr. Buchanan, and in turn his wholly owned entity, Second Avenue Holdings, was acting on behalf of the Trust at the second foreclosure sale. Mr. Buchanan's own testimony established that he regularly and routinely acted on behalf the Trust in its operations. He testified that he set up the Trust and funded it out of his own assets, (*id.* pp. 93-94) (R. pp. 186-87); that he holds the title of "financial advisor" of the Trust, (*id.* p. 111) (R. p. 204); and that he routinely identifies

properties to be put into the Trust, (*id.* p. 110) (R. p. 203). He further testified that he was the one who identified the loan opportunity to the Borrower and met with the Appellants on behalf of the Trust—without the Trustee—in order to initiate the transaction. (*Id.* p. 110) (R. p. 203). The Trustee also obtained his consent before proceeding with the foreclosure action in this matter. (*Id.* p. 95) (R. p. 188).

The Trustee, Mr. Wilkinson, concurred that the assets held by the Trust have “all been put in there by Mr. Buchanan” in order to eliminate estate taxes and to benefit Mr. Buchanan’s children. (*Id.* pp. 65-66, 74) (R. pp. 158-59, 167). He explained that his role as Trustee is to make “distributions for the health, education and welfare” of Mr. Buchanan’s children. (*Id.* p. 65) (R. p. 158). He agreed that Mr. Buchanan gives financial advice to the Trust, brings most of the investments to the table, and makes recommendations about buying or selling property. (*Id.* pp. 76, 78) (R. pp. 169, 171). Mr. Wilkinson conceded that he has never turned down one of Mr. Buchanan’s recommendations. (*Id.* p. 79) (R. p. 172). He even referred to the Trust loaning money to the Borrower as if it were Mr. Buchanan himself loaning the money: “Mr. Buchanan was contacted by someone . . . [who] told him there was an opportunity” and that “if he wanted to loan some money, you know, there was an opportunity to make some money.” (*Id.* pp. 66-67 (emphasis added)) (R. pp. 159-60).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When considering a directed verdict motion, the trial court should view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. If more than one reasonable inference can be drawn ... the case should be submitted to the jury. The trial court should be concerned only with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its credibility or weight.

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