**RECEIVED**

MAR 12 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SALUDA COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001388

Stephen Wilkinson, as Trustee of George B. Buchanan,  
Jr. Irrevocable Family Trust Dated the 15th day of July,  
2001, .....

Respondent,

v.

Redd Green Investments, LLC, Anderson North Augusta,  
LLC, Herbert Anderson, Jr., A. Bruce Green, Herbert  
Keith Anderson, and L. Cliff Redd,.....

Defendants,

Of which Redd Green Investments, LLC, A. Bruce  
Green, and L. Cliff Redd are.....

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

John T. Moore  
A. Mattison Bogan

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

The Guarantors rely on several provisions of the guaranty agreements in support of their arguments. *See* (App. Br. 23). However, those provisions do not entitle them to relief. First, their argument that the Trust may only “‘compromise’ collateral ‘with reasonable notice to the undersigned’” is unpreserved. The Guarantors never argued to the trial court that the Trust violated that term by failing to notify them it would seek recourse against the collateral. Therefore, this argument is not preserved for appellate review. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). Nonetheless, the Guarantors are the owners of Springs North Augusta, and they cannot reasonably deny receiving notice of the foreclosure action. *See* (Trial Tr. 87–89, R. 180–82) (describing the Guarantors’ knowledge of the foreclosure proceedings while those proceedings occurred).

Second, as explained above, the Guarantors' argument that they have a "right of recourse to security for the debts and obligations of the Borrower to Lender' if and when they pay the Borrower's obligations" is a misreading of the plain language of the guaranty agreements. *See* (App. Br. 23); *see also* (Guaranty Agrs. at 2, R. 277, 280). That clause provides that the Guarantors have no right of subrogation or recourse against the collateral until all debts and obligations have been paid in full. The debt has not been paid.

Finally, the Guarantors rely on part of a clause at the end of the agreements to argue that the agreements "focus[] on the importance of the high bid at any foreclosure sale" and that the Guarantors were "relying upon a fair bidding process in accordance with law in order to produce the highest possible high bid." (App. Br. 24). That provision states, in full,

Waiver of Appraisal Rights. The laws of South Carolina provide that in any real estate foreclosure proceeding a defendant against whom a personal judgment is taken or asked may within thirty days after the sale of the mortgaged property apply to the court for an order of appraisal. The statutory appraisal value as approved by the court would be substituted for the high bid and may decrease the amount of any deficiency owing in connection with the transaction. **TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW AND AS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT FOR LENDER TO MAKE THE LOAN, GUARANTOR HEREBY WAIVES AND RELINQUISHES THE STATUTORY APPRAISAL RIGHTS WHICH MEANS THE HIGH BID AT THE JUDICIAL FORECLOSURE SALE WILL BE APPLIED TO THE DEBT REGARDLESS OF ANY APPRAISED VALUE OF THE MORTGAGED PROPERTY.**

(Guaranty Agrs. at 3, R. 278, 281). The Guarantors ask this court to interpret that provision as an agreement that the Trust will insure the highest possible bid at a foreclosure sale. To the contrary, the provision—read in context—expressly provides that, as an inducement for the Trust to make the loan, the winning bid at any foreclosure sale is final and the Guarantors do not have the right to assert that the bid should be higher. Regardless, as explained below in Part II.B, the Guarantors

presented no evidence to support a finding that the high bid at the foreclosure sale was not the highest possible bid.

The plain language of the guaranty agreements does not include any requirement that the property sell for the full amount of the debt at a foreclosure sale or for fair market value before the Trust may pursue recovery from the Guarantors. The Guarantors ask this court to create new law and add new, implied terms to the guaranty agreements providing them with greater rights than those for which they contracted. Courts cannot rewrite contracts to change the parties' agreement, and this court should affirm the directed verdict and denial of the motion for a new trial.

**C. No law supports the relief sought by the Guarantors.**

The Guarantors have not cited any law supporting their requested relief. The primary case they rely upon is inapplicable to this issue. *See Commercial Credit Corp. v. Nelson Motors, Inc.*, 247 S.C. 360, 147 S.E.2d 481 (1966). To the extent the contract at issue in *Nelson Motors* was a guaranty, it was a guaranty of collection. The court considered the contractual relationship between two parties—"including the relationship of the parties and their past dealings"—and found Commercial Credit Corporation was required to pursue collection of certain accounts before demanding payment from Nelson Motors. *Id.* at 369, 147 S.E.2d at 485. Importantly, the contract contained no provision addressing the issue. *Id.* at 369, 147 S.E.2d at 485. However, the parties' relationship preexisted the contract at issue, and Commercial Credit had always sought to collect with diligence before demanding payment from Nelson Motors. *Id.* at 364–65, 147 S.E.2d at 482–83. Therefore, the court found an implied obligation to collect. *Id.* In contrast, the Trust and the Guarantors had no prior contractual relationship related to the guaranty agreements, and the guaranty agreements expressly provide that they are *not* guaranties of collection and that the Trust

is *not* required to attempt collection before pursuing the Guarantors. (Guaranty Agrs. at 1–2, R. 276–77, 279–80).

The Guarantors also assert that the prohibitions on impairment of collateral in Article 3 of the Uniform Commercial Code (“UCC”), *see* S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-605, and the Restatement (Third) of Suretyship & Guaranty apply to this case. (App. Br. 17–19). The Guarantors misinterpret South Carolina law.

First, Article 3 of the UCC does not apply to this case. The UCC rules apply to negotiable instruments, but the Guarantors are not parties to a negotiable instrument. *See Sunrise Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. Mariner’s Cay Dev. Corp.*, 295 S.C. 208, 210–11, 367 S.E.2d 696, 697–98 (1988); *see also* (Promissory Note, R. 266). In fact, the comments to section 36-3-605—which the Guarantors rely upon—plainly state that it does not apply to the guaranty agreements at issue in this case. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-605 cmt. 2 (explaining there are three ways to consummate a guaranty agreement, one of which “is that the Borrower would use an instrument governed by this Article to evidence its repayment obligation, but Backer’s [i.e., the guarantor’s] obligation would be created in some way other than by becoming party to that instrument. In that case Backer’s rights are determined by suretyship and guaranty law rather than by this Article”). The Guarantors are not parties to the promissory note; they are parties only to the separate guaranty agreements. (Promissory Note at 1, R. 266; Guaranty Agrs., R. 276, 279). Thus, Article 3 of the UCC—including section 36-3-605—does not apply to this case. *Id.*; *see also Sunrise Sav. & Loan Ass’n*, 295 S.C. at 210–11, 367 S.E.2d at 697–98 (finding a contract of guaranty “does not satisfy the requirements of a negotiable instrument. Accordingly, [the guarantor] is not a ‘party to the instrument’ and cannot assert an impairment of collateral defense” provided by the UCC); *see also Tri-S. Mortg. Inv’rs v. Fountain*, 266 S.C. 141, 145, 221 S.E.2d 861, 863 (1976) (finding the

incorporation of a guaranty into a note and other loan documents did not alter the obvious intent that the guaranty agreement be absolute as a guaranty of payment rather than collection), *overruled on other grounds* by *SCN Mortg. Corp. v. White*, 312 S.C. 384, 440 S.E.2d 868 (1994).

Second, contrary to the Guarantors' assertions, this court did not apply Restatement (Third) of Suretyship & Guaranty protections in *CoastalStates Bank v. Hanover Homes of South Carolina, LLC*, 408 S.C. 510, 759 S.E.2d 152 (Ct. App. 2014). The "acknowledgement" of the guarantor's argument cited by the Guarantors was simply the court's recitation of the parties' arguments in that case. *See id.* at 519–20, 759 S.E.2d at 157–58. The court never indicated its agreement with those arguments, and it did not adopt the Restatement's "impairment of collateral" defense as the law in South Carolina. *See generally id.* at 518–23, 759 S.E.2d at 157–59 (reciting the parties' arguments in extensive detail). To the contrary, the court decided the case based on the terms of the agreements between the parties. *Id.* at 523, 759 S.E.2d at 159 ("Under our reading of the relevant authorities, we must review the terms of the guaranty and the Agreement to determine if Cosman was released from liability with the release of Borrower."). The court reversed the granting of summary judgment because it found the guaranties at issue could "reasonably be read" to support the appellant's position. *Id.* at 524, 759 S.E.2d at 160. Thus, *CoastalStates* does not support the Guarantors' argument that this court must add an implied term to the guaranty agreements that extinguishes the debt if the Trust is found to have impaired the collateral.

Unlike the guaranties in *CoastalStates*, the guaranty agreements in this case are unambiguous and cannot be "reasonably read" to require the Trust to bid fair market value or comply with the bidding statute in a prior foreclosure action before it may enforce the guaranty agreements. The Guarantors are liable for the amount of the deficiency judgment.

Although the Trust disputes the allegation that it violated the bidding statute, any violation is irrelevant to whether the Guarantors are obligated to pay the remaining debt. The Guarantors' argument would convert the guaranty agreements into guaranties of *collection*, not of *payment*, and would alter the express language of the guaranty agreements. Contrary to their arguments, there is no requirement that the Trust must bid the fair market value of the property. The guaranty agreements are *absolute* guaranties, and the Guarantors are liable for whatever the borrower failed to pay.

**II. The trial court properly determined the Trust did not violate section 15-39-720.**

**A. No violation of the deficiency statute occurred.**

This court should affirm the trial court's finding that no violation of the bidding statute occurred. Although the trial court stated that it assumed for purposes of its directed verdict ruling that a violation of the statute occurred, it also found that 2nd Avenue Holdings is not a representative of the Trust. If 2nd Avenue Holdings is not a representative of the Trust, no violation of the statute occurred, and if no violation of the statute occurred, the Guarantors have no defense to payment of the deficiency judgment.

Section 15-39-720 provides that a foreclosure sale shall remain open for thirty days after the initial sale. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-720. Within that thirty-day period,

any person other than the highest bidder at the sale or any representative thereof in foreclosure and execution suits may enter a higher bid . . . , and thereafter within such period any person, other than such highest bidder at the sale or any representative thereof, in foreclosure suits may in like manner raise the last highest bid, and the successful purchaser shall be deemed to be the person who submitted the last highest bid within such period and made the necessary deposit or guaranty. But the mortgagee or his representative shall enter such bid as he desires at the time the sale is made, and he and all persons acting in his behalf shall be precluded from entering any other bid in any amount at any other

time except the single or last bid made by him or in his behalf at the sale.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-39-720. To prove a violation of the statute, the Guarantors must prove that the winning bid of \$7,160,000 was entered by a representative of the Trust. The winning bid at the upset sale was submitted by 2nd Avenue Holdings, LLC. (Trial Tr. 69, R. 162). The Trust does not dispute that Buchanan is the sole owner of 2nd Avenue Holdings. However, there is no legal relationship between 2nd Avenue Holdings and the Trust. Moreover, the Trust is an irrevocable trust set up for the benefit of Buchanan's children, and Buchanan has no legal right to make decisions for the Trust. (Trial Tr. 65–66, 76–78, R. 158–59, 169–71). The \$7,160,000 bid came from 2nd Avenue Holdings, which is not a representative of the Trust as a matter of law. Therefore, no violation of the statute occurred, and the Guarantors are obligated to pay the deficiency judgment.

**B. There is no evidence that the Guarantors suffered any prejudice from Buchanan's or 2nd Avenue Holdings' actions at the foreclosure sale.**

The Guarantors cannot prove that they were harmed. The Guarantors can only be relieved of their obligation to perform under the guaranty agreements if they can show that the sale price would have been higher but for Buchanan's actions. They failed to do so. The fact that the winning bid was \$7,160,000 definitively proves that no party was willing to bid more than \$7,160,000, and the Guarantors suffered no prejudice from 2nd Avenue Holdings' purchase because they would be in no better position if a third party had purchased the property. *See Peoples Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Myrtle Beach Ret. Grp., Inc.*, 302 S.C. 223, 233 & n.1, 394 S.E.2d 849, 855 & n.1 (Ct. App. 1990) (Cureton, J., concurring) (“[T]he developers here are not prejudiced by allowing the lender the discount because they would have been in no better position if a third party had purchased the property at the judicial sale. . . . *Indeed, it is assumed that because a third party did*

*not buy the property at the foreclosure sale no one else was interested in purchasing the property at the price paid by the lender.”* (emphasis added)). The Guarantors instead ask the courts to extinguish their debt on the purely hypothetical ground that a third party would have bid either the full amount of the debt or fair market value—or that the Guarantors would have done so—if 2nd Avenue Holdings had not bid. No provision of South Carolina law supports such a remedy, and no evidence presented at trial supports the Guarantors’ hypothetical. Moreover, the Guarantors benefitted from the Trust’s use of the foreclosure process. They are liable for approximately \$4,700,000, instead of the total debt of approximately \$9,600,000.

As to the propriety of the amount obtained at the foreclosure sale, the \$7,160,000 sale price was 94% of the original loan amount. The South Carolina Supreme Court has noted that although a foreclosure sale may be set aside if the inadequacy of the sale price “is so gross as to shock the conscience,” a sale price of 47% of the original amount of the mortgage did not meet that test. *Am. Gen. Fin. Servs., Inc. v. Brown*, 376 S.C. 580, 584 n.2, 658 S.E.2d 99, 101 n.2 (2008). If a sale price of 47% of the original debt is not sufficiently inadequate to set aside a foreclosure sale, the Guarantors’ argument that the foreclosure sale must obtain the amount of the debt or the fair market value of the property is invalid.

**III. The Guarantors cannot challenge the deficiency judgment in a subsequent action to enforce the guaranty agreements.**

This case is not the proper vehicle for the Guarantors to challenge the foreclosure proceedings. The Guarantors have repeated throughout trial and their brief that the Trust did not name them as defendants in the foreclosure action. The implication of the Guarantors’ argument is that the Trust’s decision not to name them as defendants was unlawful or inequitable. To the contrary, as the Guarantors’ counsel conceded in his closing argument, (Trial Tr. 128, R. 221) (“They certainly didn’t have to and that’s their decision . . .”), the Trust was not required to name

the Guarantors as defendants in the foreclosure action. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-660 (providing “if the mortgage debt be secured by the covenant or obligation of any person other than the mortgagor the plaintiff *may* make such person a party to the action” (emphasis added)); *Carolina First Bank v. BADD, L.L.C.*, 414 S.C. 289, 292–93, 778 S.E.2d 106, 108 (2015) (referring to a lender’s “statutory right to join a guarantor as a party to a foreclosure action”); *see also* 27 S.C. Jur. *Mortgages* § 108 (“Guarantors or persons obligated on a note other than the mortgagor *can* be made parties and a judgment obtained against them for the unsatisfied debt.” (emphasis added)). The Trust had the right to name the Guarantors as defendants in the foreclosure obligation, but it was not obligated to do so by either law or contract.

**A. The Guarantors’ defense is barred by res judicata.**

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